IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC11-1631

LOWER TRIBUNAL No. 1983-CF-001682

ROBERT IRA PEEDE,	
Appellant,	
v.	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	
INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT	

LINDA McDERMOTT Florida Bar No. 0102857

McClain & McDermott, P.A. 20301 Grande Oak Blvd. Suite 118 - 61 Estero, Florida 33928 (850) 322-2172 Fax (954) 564-5412

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's summarily denial of Mr. Peede's successive motion for postconviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850 and 3.851.

INTRODUCTION

On November 30, 2009, the United States Supreme Court issued its decision in *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009). There, the United States Supreme Court ruled that this Court's *Strickland* analysis which appeared in *Porter v. State*, 788 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 2001), was "an unreasonable application of our clearly established law." *Porter v. McCollum*, 130 S. Ct. at 455. Under the Anti-Terrorism Effective Death Penalty Act (AEDPA), the United States Supreme Court was required to give some deference to this Court's application of *Strickland*. It could not grant habeas relief from a state court judgment merely because it disagreed with the state court's application of federal constitutional law. Specifically, habeas relief could only be issued to George Porter if this Court's *Strickland* analysis was not just wrong, but clearly and unreasonably wrong. It is in this context that the United States Supreme Court's ruling in *Porter v. McCollum* must be read.

Mr. Peede's current appeal requires this Court to engage in an introspective look at the import of the decision in *Porter v.*McCollum and consider whether its own unreasonable analysis in *Porter v. State* was merely an aberration or was it in fact indicative of a systemic failure by this Court to properly understanding and apply *Strickland*.

¹Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984).

In the relatively recent past, this Court has on two occasions assessed the effect to be accorded to a decision by the United States Supreme Court finding that this Court had misapprehended and misapplied United States Supreme Court precedent. In *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, 481 U.S. 393 (1987), the United States Supreme Court granted federal habeas relief because this Court had failed to properly apply *Lockett v. Ohio*, 438 U.S. 586 (1978), and find Eighth Amendment error when a capital jury was not advised that it could and should consider non-statutory mitigating circumstances when returning an advisory verdict in a capital penalty phase proceeding. In *Espinosa v. Florida*, 505 U.S. 1079 (1992), the United States Supreme Court summarily reversed a decision by this Court which found that *Maynard v. Cartwright*, 486 U.S. 356 (1988), was not applicable in Florida because the jury's verdict in a Florida capital penalty phase proceedings was merely advisory. ³

Following the decisions in *Hitchcock v. Dugger* and *Espinosa v. Florida*, this Court was called upon to address whether other death sentenced individuals whose death sentences had also been affirmed by this Court due to the same misapprehension of federal law should arbitrarily be denied the benefit of the proper construction and application of federal constitutional law. On both occasions, this Court determined that fairness dictated that those, who had not received from this Court the benefit of the proper application of federal constitutional law, should be allowed to re-present their claims and have those claims judged under the proper constitutional standards. *See Thompson v. Dugger*, 515 So. 2d 173, 175 (Fla. 1987)("We hold we are required by this *Hitchcock* decision to re-examine this matter as a new

²The AEDPA was not in effect at the time of the decision in *Hitchcock v. Dugger*, so there was no need for the United States Supreme Court to determine that this Court's decision was clearly or unreasonably wrong. The United States Supreme Court's review in *Hitchcock* was *de novo*.

³The decision by the United States Supreme Court in *Espinosa v. Florida* was in the course of direct review of this Court's decision affirming a death sentence on direct appeal. The United States Supreme Court's decision was not through the prism of federal habeas review, and thus the United States Supreme Court employed *de novo* review.

issue of law"); *James v. State*, 615 So. 2d 668, 669 (Fla. 1993) (*Espinosa* to be applied retroactively to Mr. James because "it would not be fair to deprive him of the *Espinosa* ruling").

Mr. Peede, whose ineffective assistance of counsel claims were heard and decided by this Court before *Porter v. McCollum* was rendered, seeks in this appeal what George Porter received. Mr. Peede seeks to have his ineffectiveness claims reheard and re-evaluated using the proper *Strickland* standard that the United States Supreme Court applied in Mr. Porter's case to find a re-sentencing was warranted. Mr. Peede seeks the benefit of the same rule of law that was applied to Mr. Porter's ineffective assistance of counsel claims. Mr. Peede seeks the proper application of the *Strickland* standard. Mr. Peede seeks to be treated equally and fairly.

⁴When Mr. Porter's case was returned to the circuit court for a re-sentencing, a life sentence was imposed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Peede was indicted on May 25, 1983, with one count of first-degree murder in the death of his wife, Darla Peede (R. 1008).

Mr. Peede pled not guilty to the charge.

A capital jury found Mr. Peede guilty on February 17, 1984 (R. 1235). The jury recommended death by a vote of eleven (11) to one (1) (R. 1247). On August 27, 1984, the trial court imposed a sentence of death on the count of first-degree murder (R. 1251-2).

On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Peede's conviction and sentence, but overturned the aggravating circumstance that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense or moral justification. This Court found that there was no heightened premeditation proven which would substantiate the aggravating circumstance. *Peede v. State*, 474 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 1985).

In response to a death warrant signed on May 6, 1988, Mr. Peede filed his initial Rule 3.850 motion on June 6, 1988 (PC-R1. 4).

Postconviction counsel for Mr. Peede filed an amended 3.850 motion of February 21, 1995 (PC-R1. 448-612).

On June 21, 1996, the state court issued an order summarily denying Mr. Peede's 3.850 claims (PC-R1. 632). Mr. Peede appealed the summary denial of his 3.850 motion to this Court (PC-R1. 1690).

This Court remanded Mr. Peede's case to the circuit court for an evidentiary hearing. Peede v. State, 748 So. 2d 253 (Fla. 1999).

On November 10 and 12, 2003, and January 12 through 14, 2004, an evidentiary hearing was held. After the hearing, the circuit court denied all relief (PC-R2. 1774-86).

Mr. Peede appealed that order to this Court and simultaneously filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus on October 6, 2005. This Court denied relief. *Peede v. State*, 955 So. 2d 480 (2007).

On May 5, 2008, Mr. Peede filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus before the federal district court. That petition is still pending.

On or about November 16, 2010, Mr. Peede filed a successive Rule 3.851 in the circuit court (PC-R3. 17-45). The State filed an answer to the motion on December 17, 2010 (PC-R3. 46-69).

The circuit court held a case management conference on March 14, 2011.

On May 2, 2011, the circuit court denied Mr. Peede's successive Rule 3.851 motion (PC-R3. 87-92).

Mr. Peede timely filed a notice of appeal (PC-R3. 100-101).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

THE TRIAL

Shortly after Mr. Peede's extradition back to Florida, the Orange County Public Defender's Office was appointed to represent him. Theotis Bronson was first assigned to represent Mr. Peede. Just before trial commenced, Joseph DeRoucher, the Public Defender for Orange County, joined the defense as penalty phase counsel. A motion for a psychiatric examination was requested by trial counsel on June 2, 1983 (R. 1015-6). Dr. Robert Kirkland was appointed to evaluate Mr. Peede. That evaluation occurred on October 11, 1983, at the Orange County Jail, for the purposes of determining if Mr. Peede was competent to stand trial or insane at the time of the offense (R. 1239). Dr. Kirkland evaluated Mr. Peede for a total of an hour and a half (R. 935). He conducted no psychological testing, received no medical records, and spoke with no collateral witnesses (R. 953-5).

In his report, Dr. Kirkland stated that Mr. Peede's behavior was "highly suggestive of a paranoid disorder", but he did not find him insane or incompetent to stand trial. (R. 1239). Dr. Kirkland also stated that he did not feel he could be of any assistance to the defense at that time (R. 1239). No further contact was had with Dr. Kirkland and defense counsel until shortly before the penalty phase of Mr. Peede's trial (PC-R2. 176).

Prior to Mr. Peede's trial, he requested that he be allowed to represent himself. The trial court inquired about Mr. Peede's background and in doing so, Mr. Peede indicated that he had seen mental health professionals in his past, though he did not think that he ever saw a psychiatrist (R. 1435). At the conclusion of the court's inquiry, the court denied Mr. Peede's request to represent himself (R. 1439).

During the State's opening argument, the prosecutor informed the jury that Mr. Peede had murdered his wife and that the murder was premeditated. The prosecutor also told the jury that the victim, Darla Peede "was afraid that [Mr. Peede] was going to kill [her]." (R.

⁵Dr. Kirkland's conclusions were not presented to the jury (R. 1241-2).

503). So, Darla had moved to Miami and "did all the things you do when you're about to set up a life on your own away from your husband . .." (R. 503-4).

Indeed, the State presented the testimony of Darla Peede's daughters, Tanya Bullis and Rebecca Keniston. Ms. Bullis testified that on the day her mother went to meet Mr. Peede at the airport, that her mother told her that she "was afraid of being taken to North Carolina." (R. 599-600). Additionally, Ms. Bullis' mom told her that she was afraid of being put with the other people that Mr. Peede had threatened to kill on Easter (R. 600).

Trial counsel countered the prosecutions factual scenario during his opening statement when he told the jury that Darla Peede's death occurred at the hands of Mr. Peede, but that it occurred while Mr. Peede was in a "fit of rage" (R. 508). Trial counsel also told the jury that Mr. Peede was described as having two distinct personalities: calm and serene and at "[o]ther times things would set him off, drive him into a rage . . . " (R. 508). Despite, trial counsel's comments to the jury about Mr. Peede's mental state, at Mr. Peede's capital trial, no expert testimony or evidence was presented to the jury in this regard at the guilt phase.

At trial, the jury learned that Mr. Peede confessed to the killing his wife shortly after he was arrested in North Carolina. In his confession, he admitted killing his wife, Darla Peede, during their trip from Florida to North Carolina (S-Ex. 14). However, during the confession, he repeatedly stated that he could not remember the actual killing, but that he just "nutted up." (S-Ex. 14 p. 227).

Mr. Peede also told law enforcement that during the drive to North Carolina, he and Darla began to discuss the fact that Mr. Peede had seen her picture in some magazines containing naked females (R. 721). Mr. Peede was angry and upset about her posing for these magazines (R. 749). Mr. Peede told law enforcement that he never intended to kill his wife (R. 730). Mr. Peede also believed that his wife had posed for some photos with his ex-wife and a man named, Calvin Wagner (R. 722).

Throughout the course of his trial, Mr. Peede's behavior was extremely bizarre. During the course of the trial, Mr. Peede would appear with paperclips in his ear and a hand drawn "x" between his eyes. Also, he refused to wear the civilian clothes brought by his attorneys and insisted upon wearing his jail jumpsuit (R. 1207, 1209).

At several points he demanded that no cross examination be conducted of several key witnesses in the State's case. These witnesses included Darla Peede's daughter, Tanya Bullis and Mr. Peede's ex-wife, Geraldine Peede (PC-R1. 1248-9, 1274-6). Mr. Peede told the jury that his attorneys were acting against his wishes in cross-examining these witness (PC-R1. 1275-6). Soon afterwards, Mr. Peede requested that he be allowed to absent himself from the remainder of the trial (PC-R1. 1305). After the trial court and counsel met with him at the jail, the decision was made to waive Mr. Peede's presence at his trial (PC-R1. 1306-21). Thereafter, the jury, who received no explanation as to Mr. Peede's disruptive conduct, soon convicted him of first degree murder (PC-R1. 1234-5).

After the guilt phase, trial counsel requested that another mental health examination be conducted for the purposes of the penalty phase. The trial court ordered Dr. Kirkland to re-evaluate Mr. Peede on February 24, 1984 (R. 1240). The report from that examination was filed with the trial court on March 2, 1984 (R. 1241-2). The evaluation lasted only forty minutes (D-Ex. 10).

After explaining Mr. Peede's account of how the murder took place, Dr. Kirkland concluded that the entire event was a "mitigating circumstance", but that Mr. Peede was not insane at the time of the offense. However, he did "feel that the capital felony was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental and emotional disturbance." (R. 1241). This report was not provided to the jury during the penalty phase.

In preparation for the penalty phase, trial counsel contacted Percy Brown, a cousin of Mr. Peede's, who was still living in North Carolina. They requested that he gather letters on Mr. Peede's behalf from several family members to use during the penalty phase (S-Ex. 7; R. 954-6). The letters were sent to trial counsel and were the only exhibits introduced during the penalty phase on Mr. Peede's behalf.

The penalty phase took place on March 5, 1984. During the hearing, the State called two witnesses to testify about Mr. Peede's prior second degree murder conviction from California. One witness was a police officer who investigated the case, and the other was Austin Backus, who witnessed the shooting, while he was a young teenager.

In mitigation, trial counsel introduced the letters and called only Dr. Kirkland to testify (R. 948). During his testimony, Dr. Kirkland gave no specific diagnosis of what Mr. Peede's condition was, but stated that Mr. Peede's description of events showed "strong paranoid elements." (R. 952). He further stated that it was his opinion that Mr. Peede committed the murder while under the influence of extreme mental and emotional disturbance (R. 950).

The extent of Dr. Kirkland's testimony can be summarized in a single question and answer about Mr. Peede's mental state:

- Q: Were you able to identify in Mr. Peede any, any[sic] recognizable mental illness?
- A: I felt, and I continue to feel, that Mr. Peede has certain, certain type of character structure that he is maybe, in lay terms, he's sort of a tough guy, macho, explosive at times. But I was most impressed with certain rather strong paranoid elements that developed into a scenario involving the two wives, and which I think played a large part in Darla's death.

(R. 951-2). And, on cross-examination, the State impeached and minimized Dr. Kirkland's testimony based on the fact that his opinion was based solely on Mr. Peede's self-report and no medical or other background information; not even the letters provided by his family (R. 954-6).

The jury recommended death by a vote of eleven to one (R. 1247).

The trial court sentenced Mr. Peede to death on March 23, 1984, finding that the aggravating circumstances of a prior violent felony and the offense being committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner had been established and were not outweighed by the sole mitigating factor that Mr. Peede was under the influence of extreme mental or emotion disturbance at the time of the offense (R. 1263-5). In weighing the mental health mitigation, the trial court minimized the import of the statutory mitigator: "Viewing the testimony of Dr. Robert Kirkland that the Defendant experienced a specific paranoia that the victim and his ex-wife, Geraldine Peede, were posing in nude

magazines, the Court, **giving the Defendant the benefit of the doubt**, will consider it a mitigating circumstance. (R. 1264). Thus, the court also minimized Dr. Kirkland's testimony because it was based solely on self-report. In terms of other mitigation, the trial court gave no weight to the letters sent by Mr. Peede's family (R. 1265). No other mitigation was found by the trial court (<u>Id.</u>).

DIRECT APPEAL

On direct appeal, this Court struck the aggravating circumstance that the murder had been committed in a cold, calculated an premeditated manner:

Although we find that the evidence of premeditation is sufficient to support a finding of premeditated murder, there was no showing of the heightened premeditation, calculation, or planning that must be proven to support a finding of the aggravating factor that Darla's murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated. The record supports the conclusion that Peede intended to take Darla back to North Carolina as a lure to get Geraldine and Calvin to come to a location where he could kill them. It does not establish that he planned from the beginning to murder her once he had completed his plan in North Carolina. By prematurely murdering her at the time he did, he eliminated his bait.

Peede v. State, 474 So. 2d 808, 817 (Fla. 1985). However, this Court concluded that the remaining two aggravating factors: prior violent felony conviction and committed in the course of a kidnapping, outweigned "the one marginal mitigating circumstance" found by the trial court. Id. at 818.

POSTCONVICTION PROCEEDINGS

⁶During the trial, Geraldine Peede denied ever taking nude photographs or posing in any "Swinger" type magazines (R. 1268-9, 1272-3).

After this Court remanded Mr. Peede's case for an evidentiary hearing, postconviction counsel requested that the circuit court determine if Mr. Peede was competent to proceed. Experts were appointed and hearings were held on March 24, 2000, and May 24, 2000. During the hearings, four doctors testified regarding Mr. Peede's competency. Two doctors found Mr. Peede to be incompetent due to his inability to assist postconviction counsel. The other two doctors could not make a diagnosis because Mr. Peede refused to see them.

However, those doctors could not rule out the possibility of Mr. Peede being unable to assist his counsel. The court determined that Mr. Peede was competent to proceed on June 22, 2000.

After the hearing, the circuit court granted Mr. Peede's counsel's motion to withdraw. New counsel was appointed to represent Mr. Peede.

Mr. Peede's new counsel also believed Mr. Peede was incompetent to proceed. Postconviction counsel related information to the court regarding their contacts with Mr. Peede: New counsel explained to Mr. Peede that they required input from him in order to prepare for his evidentiary hearing, during a telephone conversation on November 6, 2001. Mr. Peede's response to counsel was, "there is nothing wrong with me and I'm not going to talk to anybody. I'm not crazy.". Subsequently, Mr. Peede's counsel met with Mr. Peede in person at Union Correctional Institution on November 13, 2001. Mr. Peede informed counsel that it was very difficult for him to talk about himself and began to weep. Counsel's attempts to calm Mr. Peede failed and he became increasingly emotional. Mr. Peede related that there are "things that I don't like about myself.". Suddenly, Mr. Peede's facial expression altered and he began yelling "it's a lie, it's a lie" and began hyperventilating. His face reddened and he told counsel, "if Darla loved me, then she would have never posed for pornographic pictures.".

As Mr. Peede talked, he began shaking. When he finished his explanation, he began crying uncontrollably. For the next ten minutes, Mr.

⁷At the hearing Mr. Peede requested that new counsel be appointed to represent him.

Peede stood in a corner facing the wall with his back toward counsel. He continued to shake. Mr. Peede did not respond to attempts to comfort him. After several minutes, he sat down. He was silent. Then he began crying again and got up and went to the corner.

Additionally, postconviction counsel was aware that Mr. Peede had a history of bizarre behavior when discussing his life. For example, during a meeting with Dr. Teich, the defense's mental health expert, Mr. Peede became so upset that he repeatedly banged his head against the table. Dr. Teich had to restrain Mr. Peede from hurting himself by cradling Mr. Peede's head in Dr. Teich's hand.

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