#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT IRA PEEDE,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC11-1631 L.T. No. 1983-CF-001682

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

\_\_\_\_

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

PAMELA JO BONDI ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
Florida Bar No. 0802743
Concourse Center 4
3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200
Tampa, Florida 33607-7013
Telephone: (813) 287-7910
Facsimile: (813) 281-5501
scott.browne@myfloridalegal.com
COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

####

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court correctly denied this successive, untimely, and procedurally barred motion to vacate. As an initial matter, Peede's collateral counsel was not authorized to file this successive motion for post-conviction relief. Peede's claim did not meet the requirements of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B). Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009) did not change the law in any manner but was a fact specific application of Strickland v. Washington. Peede did not offer or argue any new evidence in his successive motion, he simply asserted that Porter constituted a fundamental and retroactive change in the law. Since this Court has recently rejected this argument in Walton v. State, 36 Fla. L. Weekly S702, 704 (Fla. December 1, 2011), his appeal lacks any merit.

The claim in Peede's successive post-conviction motion was nothing more than a procedurally barred attempt to relitigate a previously denied claim of ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel. Further, as this Court found in his previous appeal, Peede failed to prove deficient performance. The lack of deficient performance under the well established <a href="Strickland">Strickland</a> standard is not even arguably impacted by the Supreme Court's decision in Porter.

#### ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT'S SUMMARY DENIAL OF PEEDE'S SUCCESSIVE RULE 3.851 MOTION TO SHOULD BE**AFFIRMED** AS THE MOTION UNAUTHORIZED, TIME BARRED, AND WITHOUT MERIT AS IT DID NOT ADDRESS OR OFFER NEW EVIDENCE INSTEAD UPON BUT RELIED THE PORTER McCOLLUM DECISION FROM THE SUPREME THIS COURT HAS RECENTLY DETERMINED DOES NOT CONSTITUTE A NEW OR FUNDAMENTAL CHANGE IN THE LAW.

This is a post-conviction appeal from the circuit court's summary denial of Peede's successive Rule 3.851 motion to vacate, based on Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009). Peede seeks to relitigate his previously-denied claims of ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel on the ground that Porter allegedly represents a "change in law" that should be retroactively applied. The only questions properly before this Court are: 1) Did Porter "change" the law on ineffective assistance of counsel and 2) if so, has the alleged "change in law" been held to apply retroactively under Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980)? The answer to both questions is no, as this Court recently stated in Walton v. State, 36 Fla. L. Weekly S702, 704 (Fla. December 1, 2011). Therefore, the trial court properly denied Peede's motion as untimely, successive and procedurally barred.

#### I. The Trial Court's Order

In denying Peede' successive motion to vacate, based on Porter, the trial court stated, in pertinent part:

At the case management conference in the instant case, counsel for Mr. Peede argued that *Porter* was critical of the Florida Supreme Court's *Strickland* analysis, because the deference given to the trial court's factual findings was incorrect. She argued that *Porter* means the postconviction judge should have considered *de novo* how favorable evidence would have impacted the jury rather than simply noting the existence of conflicts in the testimony.

This Court disagrees and finds that the holding in *Porter* was limited to the particular facts of that case. It does not mean the Florida Supreme Court has been applying *Strickland* incorrectly in every case or that it constitutes a change in Florida law regarding a fundamental constitutional right. Furthermore, since *Porter* was issued, no state or federal court has held that the opinion establishes a fundamental change in the law to be applied retroactively. The only case involving a successive Rule 3.851 motion based on *Porter* appears to be *Grossman v. State*, 29 So. 3d 1034 (Fla. 2010), issued on February 8, 2010, wherein the Florida Supreme Court held:

...Grossman attempts to argue that the proposed of his new Dr. testimony expert, concerning non-statutory mental mitigation, newly discovered evidence in light of decision of the United States Supreme Court in Porter v. McCollum, U.S. ----, 130 S.Ct. 447, ---L.Ed.2d ---- (2009), because "[p]rior to *Porter*, Florida Courts did not consider non-statutory mental mitigation as mitigation." We reject this claim. Porter did not grant Florida courts the authority to consider this type of mitigation, but rather recognized that Florida courts already do so: "Under Florida law, mental health evidence that does not rise to the level of establishing a statutory mitigating circumstance may nonetheless be considered by the sentencing judge and jury as

mitigating." 130 S.Ct. at 454 (citing Hoskins v. State, 965 So. 2d 1, 17-18 (Fla. 2007)).

Id. at 1042.

This Court concludes that *Porter* does not announce a new right or a change in the *Strickland* analysis that justifies reconsideration of Mr. Peede's ineffective assistance of counsel claim. As the State argues, it is merely an application of the *Strickland* test to the facts of a particular case. Furthermore, this Court lacks authority to find a new basis, independent of Rule 3.85 1(d)(2)(B) and *Witt v. State*, 387 So. 2d 922, 929-930 (Fla. 1980), for filing successive motions.

Finally, unlike *Porter*, the trial court and the Supreme Court of Florida specifically ruled that trial defense counsel's performance was not deficient, conducted a full analysis of the prejudice prong under *Strickland*, applied the postconviction testimony to proffered mental health mitigation, and found no prejudice. *Peede v. State*, 955 So. 2d 480, 493-494 (Fla. 2007). Therefore, *Porter* does not provide Mr. Peede with a basis for relief.

(PCR-3, 1/89-91)

#### II. Analysis

#### A) <u>Collateral Counsel Was Not Authorized To File This</u> Successive Motion For Post-Conviction Relief

initial matter, the State notes that even authorized collateral counsel to file was not successive motion which is the subject of this appeal. 27.702, Fla. Stat., "[t]he capital collateral regional counsel and the attorneys appointed pursuant to s. 27.710 shall file only those postconviction or collateral actions authorized by statute." This Court has recognized the legislative intent to limit collateral counsel's role in capital post-conviction proceedings. See State v. Kilgore, 976 So. 2d 1066, 1068-69 (Fla. 2007). The term "postconviction capital collateral proceedings" is defined in § 27.711(1)(c), Fla. Stat., as:

"Postconviction capital collateral proceedings" means one series of collateral litigation of affirmed conviction and sentence of death, including the proceedings in the trial court that imposed the capital sentence, any appellate review of the sentence by the Supreme Court, any certiorari review of the sentence by the United States Supreme Court, and any authorized federal habeas corpus litigation with respect to the sentence. The term does not include repetitive or successive collateral challenges to a conviction and sentence of death which is affirmed by the Supreme Court and undisturbed by any collateral litigation.

§ 27.711(1)(c), Fla. Stat. (emphasis added). Collateral counsel is not authorized to file the unauthorized successive motion to vacate; the motion was time-barred, successive and procedurally barred. Porter did not change the law and Porter is based on the prejudice prong which would not apply to Peede anyway because his IAC/penalty phase claim was previously denied under the deficient performance prong of Strickland. Collateral counsel incorrectly believes that she can file successive motions for post-conviction relief at her own discretion, and, force the tax payers of this State to pay for her services. As explained below, this motion is clearly without merit and

collateral counsel should not have presented this claim to the lower court, much less expect the State to pay for it.

The trial court correctly summarily denied Peede's successive motion to vacate, based on Porter, because the motion was frivolous -- it was unauthorized, time-barred, successive, repetitive, procedurally barred and also without merit. Peede did not identify any new constitutional right created by Porter nor show that Porter has been held to retroactively, his motion was facially insufficient.

# B) Porter Did Not Change The Law, Much Less Constitute A Fundamental Change In Constitutional Law Which Is Retroactive

Peede asserts that the trial court should have granted his successive motion for post-conviction relief by holding that Porter v. McCollum, 130 S. Ct. 447 (2009), constitutes a "fundamental repudiation of this Court's Strickland jurisprudence," which constitutes a change in law that satisfies the Witt v. State, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980) standard. Peede concludes that it was therefore proper for him to raise this claim in a successive motion to vacate. Peede also insists that if the alleged "change in law" from Porter, as construed by Peede, was applied to his case, it would show that trial counsel

was deficient and that Peede was prejudiced by the alleged deficiency. Peede's argument lacks any merit.

This Court recently rejected any suggestions that <u>Porter</u> constituted a fundamental change in the law which might support a successive motion to vacate. In <u>Walton</u>, 36 Fla. L. Weekly at S704, this Court stated:

trial level postconviction court here denied Walton's second postconviction motion because the decision in Porter does not constitute a fundamental change in the law mandates retroactive application under Walton filed his motion well after the one-year deadline for postconviction motions under rule 3.851. Walton's claim that Porter applies retroactively is incorrect and insufficient as a matter of law for a successive motion because the decision in Porter does not concern a major change in constitutional law of fundamental significance. Rather, Porter involved a application and evolutionary refinement and development of the Strickland analysis, i.e., addressed a misapplication of Strickland. does not satisfy the retroactivity requirements of Witt. See generally Witt, 387 So. 2d at 924-31.

Further, in the proceedings below, collateral counsel essentially asked the postconviction trial court to reevaluate Walton's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel that had been litigated in his prior postconviction motion in light of the decision in *Porter*. This is not a permitted retroactive application as articulated in *Witt*, which allows a limited retroactive application only to changes in the law that are of fundamental constitutional significance.

Peede raises the same claim as the defendant in  $\underline{\text{Walton}}$  and uses the same argument for retroactive application of Porter

that this Court rejected in <u>Walton</u>. Accordingly, the outcome of this appeal is governed by this Court's decision in <u>Walton</u>. Peede's claim was properly denied by the trial court below.

Pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d), a defendant must present his post-conviction claims within one year of when his conviction and sentence became final unless certain exceptions are met. Here, Peede's conviction and sentences became final in 1986, when the United States Supreme Court denied certiorari after direct review. See Peede v. State, 474 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 1985), cert. denied, 477 U.S. 909 (1986). Inasmuch as Peede did not file this motion until 2010, this motion was time-barred. Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(1)(B).

Pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B), the time bar is lifted if "the fundamental constitutional right asserted was not established within the period provided for in subdivision (d)(1) and has been held to apply retroactively." Peede does not assert a claim based on a fundamental constitutional right that was not established within a year of when his convictions and sentences became final. As this Court held in <u>Walton</u>, <u>Porter</u> was nothing more than a fact specific application of <u>Strickland</u> and therefore did not constitute a fundamental change in the law which could support a successive motion for post-conviction relief. In fact, no court has held that Porter

established a "new law" that is retroactive; instead, both this Court and the federal courts, including the United States Supreme Court, have uniformly reinforced the application of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) to claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. See Cullen v. Pinholster, 131 S. Ct. 1388 (2011); Harrington v. Richter, 131 S. Ct. 770 (2011); Premo v. Moore, 131 S. Ct. 733 (2011); Padilla v. Kentucky, 130 S. Ct. 1473 (2010); Renico v. Lett, 130 S. Ct. 1855 (2010); Sears v. Upton, 130 S. Ct. 3259 (2010); Reed v. Sec'y, Fla. Dept. of Corrections, 593 F.3d 1217, 1243 n.16, 1246 (11th Cir. 2010); Boyd v. Allen, 592 F.3d 1274, 1302 (11th Cir. 2010); Franqui v. State, 59 So. 3d 82, 95 (Fla. 2011); Troy v. State, 57 So. 3d 828, 836 (Fla. 2011); Everett v. State, 54 So. 3d 464, 472 (Fla. 2010).

Since <u>Porter</u> neither recognized a new right nor has been held to apply retroactively, it does not meet the exception to the time bar found in Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B). Here, the plain language of Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.851(d)(2)(B) requires "the fundamental constitutional right asserted was not established within the period provided for in subdivision (d)(1) and has been held to apply retroactively." Thus, for this exception to apply, it requires both a new fundamental constitutional right <u>and</u> a prior holding that the right is to be

applied retroactively. <u>See Tyler v. Cain</u>, 533 U.S. 656 (2001) (holding that use of past tense in federal statute regarding successive federal habeas petitions requires Court to hold new rule retroactive before it can be relied upon). Rather, Peede must show that a newly established right has been held retroactive for the exception to apply. And, as this Court recently held in <u>Walton</u>, <u>Porter</u> does not constitute a change in the law that would apply retroactively to his case.

Peede is seeking nothing more than to relitigate his IAC/penalty phase claim. Peede raised the same IAC/penalty phase claims in his prior motion to vacate and relief was denied on both the deficient performance and prejudice prongs of <a href="Strickland">Strickland</a> after an extensive multi-day hearing. This decision was affirmed on appeal by this Court. <a href="See Peede">See Peede</a>, 955 So. 2d 480, 493-94. Attempts to relitigate claims that have previously been raised and rejected are procedurally barred. <a href="See Wright v.State">See Wright v.State</a>, 857 So. 2d 861, 868 (Fla. 2003). Under the law of the case doctrine, Peede cannot relitigate a claim that has been denied by the trial court and affirmed by this Court. <a href="State v.McBride">State v.McBride</a>, 848 So. 2d 287, 289-290 (Fla. 2003). It is also wellestablished that piecemeal litigation of claims of ineffective assistance of counsel is clearly prohibited. <a href="Pope v. State">Pope v. State</a>, 702 So. 2d 221, 223 (Fla. 1997); Lambrix v. State, 698 So. 2d 247,

248 (Fla. 1996). Since this is precisely what Peede is attempting to do here, his IAC/penalty phase claim is barred and his second successive motion to vacate was correctly denied.

See Topps v. State, 865 So. 2d 1253, 1255 (Fla. 2004) (discussing application of res judicata to claims previously litigated on the merits). Peede has already had his day in court and in the interest of judicial economy, these claims cannot be re-litigated in any state court.

Peede seems to conclude that <u>Porter</u> held that it was improper to defer to the trial court's findings of fact in resolving an IAC claim pursuant to the standard of review in <u>Stephens v. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 1028 (Fla. 1999). However, in making this assertion, Peede ignores that the <u>Stephens</u> standard of review is mandated by Strickland itself:

Furthermore, in a federal habeas challenge to a state criminal judgment, a state court conclusion that counsel rendered effective assistance is not a finding of fact binding on the federal court to the extent stated by 28 U.S.C. §2254(d). Ineffectiveness is not a question of "basic, primary, or historical fac[t]," Townsend v. Sain, 372 U.S. 293, 309, n.6, 83 S.Ct. 745, 755, n.6, 9 L. Ed. 2d 770 (1963). Rather, like the question whether multiple representation in a particular case gave rise to a conflict of interest, it is a mixed question of law and fact. See Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S., at 342, 100 S.Ct., at 1714. Although state court findings of fact made in the ineffectiveness claim course of deciding an subject to the deference requirement of §2254(d), and although district court findings are subject to the clearly erroneous standard of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 52(a), both the performance and prejudice

## components of the ineffectiveness inquiry are mixed questions of law and fact.

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